FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
11/10/2021 10:06 AM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/18/2021
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

100386-2 NO. 82155-5-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ROGER TODD BUCKNER,

Appellant/Petitioner

٧.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW BY THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

Aaron K. Owada, WSBA #13869 Sean Walsh, WSBA #39735 Richard Skeen, WSBA #48426 Attorneys for Appellant/Petitioner

OWADA LAW, PC 975 Carpenter Road NE, Suite 204 Lacey, WA 98516 Tel: (360) 483-0700 Fax: (360) 489-1877

A. INTRODUCTION AND IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner is Roger Todd Buckner ("Buckner"), an individual who is alleged to have performed electrical work on one occasion without the required electrical contractor license and certificate of competency. Buckner asks this Court to accept review the Court of Appeals' decision which affirmed the Superior Court's entry of order affirming the decision of the Washington State Department of Labor and Industries ("Department") to that Buckner's appeal was untimely.

This case raises important issues regarding due process when the Respondent, the Department of Labor and Industries ("Department") uses a subscription service that searches public records called Accurint to identify an address for Buckner which is then used as his "last known address" for mailing citations as permitted under RCW 19.28.131 because the Department did not know his address.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Buckner seeks review of *Roger Todd Buckner v. Washington Department of Labor and Industries*, No. 82155-5-I, filed on October 11, 2021 [currently unpublished]. A copy of the opinion is attached to this Petition for Review at Appendix A, pages A.001 through A.010.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Does the Department's use of a subscription service like Accurint to identify an address to which to mail citations of alleged violations under Chapter 19.28 RCW when the Department does not know the individual's address violate that individual's right to due process?

2. Does the Department's reliance upon a subscription service like Accurint to identify an address of an alleged violator of Chapter 19.28 RCW constitute compliance with RCW 19.28.131 and WAC 296-46B-995 and serve the public purposes of Chapter 19.28 RCW?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Statement of Facts

The Department Electrical Inspector/Compliance Officer Joaquin Perez issued citations EPEJP01166 and EPEJP01168 on or about November 1, 2019. (CADR P 11 and 14)¹. Citations EPEJP01166 and EPEJP01168 alleged violations of RCW 19.28.161, requiring electrical construction contractors to have a certificate of competency, and RCW 19.28.041, requiring electrical construction contractors to have an unrevoked, unsuspended, and unexpired electrical contractor license. CADR pp 11-16. The alleged violations allegedly occurred almost two years earlier on or about January 28, 2018. *Id.* The citations assess penalties of \$250.00 and \$1,000.00, respectively. *Id.*

Buckner is not now, nor has he ever been, an electrical construction contractor. Clerk's papers, p 42, *Trial Brief*, Exhibit 1, *Declaration of Todd Buckner* (hereinafter "BUCKNER"), p 3. Buckner never performed any electrical work as alleged in the citations. *Id*. Buckner never advertised nor offered to perform any electrical work as alleged in the citations. *Id*.

¹ The Certified Appeal Department Record ("CADR") is referenced in the Clerk's Papers. References throughout this brief will be contained in the CADR. The Transcripts are referenced and supplemented to the CADR. The transcripts will be referred to by "Tr." with the date and page number(s).

Notices of each citation were mailed, certified, return receipt requested, to:

ROGER BUCKNER 7683 SE 27TH ST APT 414 MERCER ISLAND WA 98040

on or about November 7, 2019. CADR pp 12-13; 15-16; 19; 21; 23-24; 26-27.

The Department did not have an address on record for Buckner. Clerk's papers, p 82, Department's Response Brief, Attachment A, Declaration of Bethany Rivera (hereinafter "RIVERA"), p 2. The Department located the address for the UPS Store on Mercer Island by somehow "[using] a service known as Accurint." Id; Clerk's papers, p 84, RIVERA p 4, Department's Response Brief, Exhibit A to Attachment A, p 2. The Department also "found two SS#s for Buckner." Id. While the Department verified the address for a contractor who was also implicated in this work, "V & S", "Address: Verified V & S with the company owner", the Department never verified the address for Buckner. Id.

Buckner did not receive notice of the citations until November 15, 2019. Clerk's Papers, p 41, BUCKNER 2. Buckner then took methodical steps to ensure he understood his rights. Clerk's Papers, 41-42, 45-53, BUCKNER 2-3, 7-15. He made repeated contacts with the Department to get all the information he could. *Id.* And then once he had confirmed exactly what was required by the Department he relied upon his communications with the Department and filed his appeal correctly and timely. Clerk's Papers, 54-68, BUCKNER 16-30.

He received the citations on Friday, November 15, 2019, and on Tuesday, November 19, 2019 he telephoned and informed the Department of his intent to appeal the citations. Clerk's Papers, p 41, BUCKNER 2. He confirmed with Inspector Perez the process and timeline that he needed to follow. *Id*.

He followed up that telephone call with an email confirming and documenting his telephone call. Clerk's Papers, p 46-47, BUCKNER 8-9.

Buckner's email says, "I informed you that it was my understanding that I had 20 days to file an appeal with the Department of Labor and Industries, commencing the 20-day count on the 15th of November 2019. It was my understanding that you agreed with me." ... "It is my understanding that I have until December 5, 2019, commencing Friday, November 15, 2019 + 20 days, including weekends and the Thanksgiving holiday to submit my appeal request." Clerk's Papers, p 46, BUCKNER 8. Buckner continues in his email with a request for a two phased process for his appeal, closing with "Please know that I believe it is paramount that I respond to the Department of Labor and Industries fully and transparently and at no time do I want to violate any law in our great state. I respectfully ask that you confirm the accuracy of the above or correct me where inaccurate. I also ask that you grant my request to have a 2-part response." Clerk's Papers, p 47, BUCKNER 9.

On November 21, 2019 he received a response email from Inspector Perez, and Buckner responded the same day. Clerk's Papers, p 49-53, BUCKNER 11-15. He asked questions and received answers. *Id.* One

question Buckner asked was for an email address for the electrical citations desk. Clerk's Papers, p 50, BUCKNER 12. "Does the department you are referring me to (the Electrical Infraction Desk) have an email that I can use to contact them?" *Id.* Mr. Perez says, "No sir." *Id.* However, the Electrical Citations Desk does have an email: <u>electricalcitations @lni.wa.gov</u>.

Inspector Perez never denies Buckner's understanding of the due date for his appeal. *Id.* Inspector Perez says, "You do not need my permission to respond that is your right. However, you will need to address this according to the instructions sent out with the Infractions - the Electrical Section at L & I is who you need to contact and appeal to, not me." *Id.* And in response to Buckner's request for contact information for the Electrical Section, Inspector Perez provides Buckner a phone number. Clerk's Papers, p 49, BUCKNER 11.

Buckner then telephoned the electrical citations desk to double check and reconfirm that he understood the process correctly. Clerk's Papers, p 41, BUCKNER 3. Again, Buckner cannot document this with email communication because the Department withheld the email address. By withholding the email address, Bethany Rivera can declare, "I have reviewed the computer system and there are no entries with Buckner prior to his late appeal." Clerk's Papers, 82, RIVERA 2.

He filed his appeal by delivering it to the Bellevue office, a process that he had confirmed was acceptable with the Department electrical citations desk and with the Bellevue office. Clerk's Papers, p 42, BUCKNER 4. The Bellevue office accepted his cashier's check and stamped his appeal "received." Clerk's Papers, p 55, BUCKNER 17.

Buckner acknowledged receipt of the citations on December 5, 2019. Clerk's Papers, p 57 and 60, BUCKNER 19 and 22. The Department failed to provide a complete copy of Buckner's appeal in the Certified Agency Record. Clerk's Papers, p 81-82, RIVERA 1-2; Compare CADR p 10 – 18 to Clerk's Papers, 56 – 67, BUCKNER 18 – 29. The missing pages from the Certified Agency Record include the part of Buckner's email in which he expressly states when he received the citations. *Id*.

Per USPS.com, one of the notice letters, tracked as No. 9489009000276093312897, was delivered to 7683 SE 27th Street, Mercer Island, WA 98040 on November 12, 2019, 10:52 am. CADR p 22. The record does not indicate whether the letters were sent together, or whether the tracking for the other letter is not included.

7683 SE 27th Street, Mercer Island, WA 98040 is the address of a The UPS Store location where Buckner rents a personal mailbox, box number 414. Clerk's Paper's p 40, BUCKNER 2. This address is not the residence of Buckner. *Id*.

Buckner did not sign for any certified letter from the Department. *Id.* The certified letter was signed by "MYSTI" at the "Front Desk/Reception/Mail Room" for The UPS Store. CADR P 22.

Neither the notice of citation EPEJP01166, nor notice of citation EPEJP01168 were actually received by Buckner until November 15, 2019. Clerk's Papers, p 41, BUCKNER 2. The notice of each citation stated, "Within 20 calendar days of receiving this letter, you must:" either "Pay" or "File an appeal". CADR pp 12 and 15, 23 and 26

2. Procedural Background

On December 5, 2019 Buckner appealed both citations. CADR 10 – 18. On or about December 19, 2019 the Department summarily denied Buckner's appeal finding "Appeal not received within 20 days of service of the citation." CADR 7. The Department did not address the merits of the citations.

On January 6, 2020, Buckner timely filed appeal to King County Superior Court. CADR 5-6. On October 16, 2020, the Honorable Catherine Shaffer of King County Superior Court signed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment affirming the Department's denial of Buckner's appeal. Clerk's Papers 130-134. On October 26, 2020, Buckner timely filed a motion for reconsideration. Clerk's Papers 140-155. On November 3, 2020, Judge Shaffer denied Buckner's motion for reconsideration. Clerk's Papers p 156-158. The Superior Court did not address the merits of the citations.

On December 1, 2020, Buckner timely filed appeal to the Court of Appeals.

E. ARGUMENT

RAP 13.4(b) states a petition for review will be accepted if the petition involves a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States or if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. Both are the case here.

1. The Supreme Court should accept this petition for review because it involves a matter of substantial public interest.

Chapter 19.28 RCW exists to permit the Department to "safeguard the public from dangerous electrical installations and unscrupulous electrical contractors" and "provide assurances that individuals performing the inherently dangerous task of electrical work are trained and competent." *Nat'l Elec. Contractors Ass'n, Cascade Chapter v. Riveland*, 138 Wn.2d 9, 17, 21-22, 978 P.2d 481 (1999). "Compliance with RCW 19.28 ensures that electrical work is performed safely and competently." *Id.* Therefore, whether the Department's procedures in its enforcement of Chapter 19.28 RCW are reasonably calculated to actually provide notice to those allegedly violating such regulations is of substantial public interest.

RCW 19.28 authorizes the Department to issue citations and assess penalties against electrical contractors with the purpose of assuring compliance with RCW 19.28. However, when the Department merely mails out citations without knowing whether or not anyone will receive them, in addition to violating the due process rights of the individuals, the Department fails to promote the public interest in ensuring compliance with RCW 19.28. If the purpose of such citations is to actually address electrical contractors who are working without license, ensuring such alleged violations actually reach those individuals is essential. Permitting the Department to mail citations to addresses without first verifying the address serves no such purpose. (Note: The Department did verify the address of the known contractor V&S who had provided the Department with a "last known address", but with Buckner, where the Department did not have a

"last known address", the Department took no steps to verify the address it found on Accurint.) When the Department ensures actual notice is provided and permits appeal of such alleged violations on the merits, the public interest is served, because only when alleged violators are actually given notice is it possible for the Department to actually ensure compliance with RCW 19.28.

Furthermore, this Petition will determine whether Buckner and the Department are given the opportunity to appeal the underlying citations on their merits. The Department has argued repeatedly that Buckner is somehow "seeking to create a technicality to escape laws that protect life and property", but nothing could be further from the truth. The record is filled with evidence that Buckner merely wanted his day in court to prove he did not violate these regulations. Buckner is not hiding or looking for a technicality. It is in fact the Department which is relying upon a technicality to deny Buckner his day in court. Only by addressing the merits will the Department have an opportunity to address compliance with RCW 19.28.

2. The Supreme Court should accept this petition for review because it involves a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States; Due Process.

The Department and the Courts below in this case rely heavily upon the fact that these citations did actually reach Buckner. They point again and again to the evidence that he contacted the Department repeatedly and attempted to timely appeal them. However, in order for the Department's use of the public database known as Accurint without any other verification to mail citations to constitute due process, it must be considered reasonably calculated to provide notice and an opportunity to be heard whether or not the citations are ever received. To determine whether due process is provided it is perhaps more important to consider when such notice is not actually received.

"Due process does not require that a property owner receive actual notice before the government may take his property." *Jones v. Flowers*, 547 U.S. 220, 226, 126 S. Ct. 1708, 164 L. Ed. 2d 415 (2006). Instead, notice must be reasonably calculated, under all the circumstances, to notify interested parties of the action and give them an opportunity to be heard. *State v. Nelson*, 158 Wn.2d 669, 703, 147 P.3d 553 (2006).

In essence the Department's argument, and the holdings of the Courts below, is that mailing a RCW 19.28.131 citation to an address located by a Department employee using a subscription service like Accurint, without providing any evidence that such service is reliable or accurate, whether or not the recipient ever receives it, and without relying upon the Department's customary process to verify the accuracy of a registered contractor's address, affords that alleged violator due process; that such a process is a reasonable interpretation of RCW 19.28.131 requiring mailing to the "last known address" and is reasonably calculated to give an ordinary individual like Buckner notice and an opportunity to be heard.

///

In considering the Mathews factors, the Appellate Court reasons the government's "interest in enforcing chapter 19.28 RCW is to protect public health and safety by 'ensur[ing] that electrical work is performed safely and competently." Riveland, 138 Wn.2d at 22. Buckner offers no alternative procedure her, with the implication being that L&I cannot issue a citation to an individual unless they first supply their address to L&I. Because only registered contractors are required to supply their address to L&I, this would effectively prevent L&I from enforcing electrical safety standards in any case where an unlicensed individual is performing electrical work." However, WAC 296-46B-995 provides "The appeal must be filed within twenty days after the notice of the decision or penalty is given to the assessed party either by personal service or using a method by which the mailing can be tracked or the delivery can be confirmed, sent to the last known address of the assessed party", so the Department's own regulations provide an alternative to mailing to an unknown address: personal service. The Department just chose not to follow its own regulations. Additionally, the Department has an unwritten process to verify the "last known address" for registered contractors like V&S, so the Department chose not to follow its own process for Buckner. And most importantly, mailing citations to unknown addresses is not reasonably calculated to enforce electrical safety standards anyway.

Picking an address from a database, without any other process to verify the accuracy of such address, is not reasonably calculated to provide actual notice and is not due process.

F. **CONCLUSION**

The Department and courts below erred by finding the use of a public records database is an appropriate substitute for knowing the appellant's address and that such process was reasonably calculated under the circumstances to provide notice and an opportunity to be heard. For the above reasons, Buckner's Petition for Review should be granted.