FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/17/2022 3:21 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 100386-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ROGER TODD BUCKNER,

Petitioner,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

STEVE VINYARD Senior Counsel WSBA #29737 Office Id. #91022 7141 Cleanwater Drive SW P.O. Box 40121 Olympia, WA 98504-0121 (360) 586-7715

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

IV. ARGUMENT

Buckner establishes neither an issue of substantial public interest nor a significant question of constitutional law. Rather, he seeks a rule of law that would frustrate the electrical laws' purpose. Buckner argues that not only must the Department determine the party's last known address, it also has to "first"

verify[] the address" from Accurint. Pet. 8-9. But nothing in RCW 19.28.131 requires the Department to conduct this additional and unnecessary step. Instead, RCW 19.28.131 allows the Department to use an individual's last known address when the Department has no address for an individual in its files. And the use of Accurint to accomplish this is reasonably calculated to lead to actual notice—which is reinforced by the fact that Buckner actually received the citations through the address supplied by Accurint—so Buckner shows no violation of due process. This Court should deny Buckner's petition for review.

A. No Issue of Substantial Public Interest Is Presented by Whether the Department Can Use Accurint To Determine Where To Mail an Electrical Citation

The routine application of the plain language of a statute to the record does not present an issue of substantial public interest. Here, the plain language of RCW 19.28.131 shows that there is no requirement that the last known address be

"verified" beyond the initial, reliable determination of last known address.

Buckner failed to timely appeal the Department's citations and the Department properly denied his appeals. The Department must send notice of electrical citations to the cited entity's last known address:

The department shall notify the person . . . violating [certain electrical laws] . . . of the amount of the penalty and of the specific violation using a method by which the mailing can be tracked or the delivery can be confirmed sent to the last known address of the assessed party.

RCW 19.28.131. Cited entities then have twenty days to appeal:

The appeal shall be filed within twenty days after notice of the penalty is given to the assessed party using a method by which the mailing can be tracked or the delivery can be confirmed, sent to the last known address of the assessed party and shall be made by filing a written notice of appeal with the department.

RCW 19.28.131.

Buckner asks that this Court ignore the plain language of the statute. By using the language "sent to the last known address," the statute means the last known address from the Department's perspective. This means the information that the Department could obtain about the contractor. The Legislature had to have contemplated that the Department would not have received addresses from unregistered electrical contractors and that some contractors might not be forthcoming with an inspector about how best to serve them with citations. And accepting Buckner's theory would thwart the statute's purpose, making it substantially more difficult for the Department to cite individuals engaging in impermissible electrical work.

The statute's plain language provides no limitation that the "last known address" be verified, whether by the person being cited or some other source. Such an interpretation would add words to the statute, which the court does not do. *See City of Seattle v. Fuller*, 177 Wn.2d 263, 269, 300 P.3d 340 (2013).²

² Buckner's argument also fails because the dictionary defines the adjective "known" as "generally recognized." *Known*, MERRIAM-WEBSTER DICTIONARY.COM. https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/known (last visited April 15, 2021). Buckner fails to show how Accurint, which uses public records to compile contact information for subscribers to purchase, contains no "generally recognized" address. *See* CP 82.

And Buckner's interpretation of RCW 19.28.131 also goes against the Legislature's purpose in adopting laws that protect against improper and dangerous electrical installations. Buckner shows no issue of substantial public interest and his petition should be denied.

B. Buckner Shows No Significant Constitutional Question When He Raises an Inchoate Due Process Argument

Buckner does not show a significant question of law under the constitution. *See* Pet. 9-11. Buckner claims he did not have adequate notice for due process purposes, but he received the notice at the address that was provided by Accurint, and the address listed in his notice of appeal was the same as the address Accurint retrieved.

Due process provides notice and an opportunity to be heard. *City of Redmond v. Moore*, 151 Wn.2d 664, 680, 91 P.3d 875 (2004). There must be "notice reasonably calculated, under all the circumstances, to apprise interested parties of the pendency of the action and afford them an opportunity to present

their objections." *State v. Rogers*, 127 Wn.2d 270, 275, 898 P.2d 294 (1995) (quoting *Mullane v. Cent. Hanover Bank & Tr. Co.*, 339 U.S. 306, 314, 70 S. Ct. 652, 94 L. Ed. 865 (1950)).

Here, notice was calculated to reach Buckner and it indeed did reach him, and it stated his appeal rights, so the "constitutional requirements are satisfied." See id. (quoting Mullane, 339 U.S. at 314-15). Looking for a last known address in a public records data compiler database is an acceptable method to serve unlicensed contractors because it is a method designed to reach them and afford them an opportunity to contest the citations. Buckner fails to provide any authority for the position that the Department cannot use a service like Accurint to identify an unregistered contractor's address (See Pet. 9-11), and the case law supports using such a service. See Rogers, 127 Wn.2d at 279 (actual delivery of a notice is not required so long as the notice was reasonably calculated to reach recipient); State v. Whitney, 78 Wn. App. 506, 510-13, 897 P.2d 374 (1995)

(mailing a notice using the address on a drivers' license provides adequate due process).

Here, actual notice was provided, so it is difficult to see what there is to complain about. At most Buckner shows that if he had not received notice he might have some reason to complain.

Buckner argues without evidence that the use of Accurint was not reliable and that the Department could not rely on Accurint without verifying his information. Pet. 9-11. But first, as the party challenging the constitutionality of the Department's actions, Buckner has to prove that the agency acted unconstitutionally beyond a reasonable doubt. *See Sch. Dists. Alliance for Adequate Funding of Special Educ. v. State*, 170 Wn.2d 599, 605-08, 244 P.3d 1 (2010). Buckner has offered no evidence supporting his claim that Accurint is unreliable so he has not met that burden.

Second, the information that is in the record indicates that Accurint is reliable, given that it in fact produced the

correct address for Buckner. Furthermore, Accurint is a service that the Department and other public and private agencies have used to identify addresses for some time, which supports the inference that its use is reasonable, at least in the absence of any evidence of it producing incorrect addresses.

Under *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 335, 96 S. Ct. 893, 47 L. Ed. 2d 18 (1976), weighing the factors shows that the notice given was constitutional; the factors considered are:

- (1) the private interest that will be affected by the official action;
- (2) the risk of erroneously depriving a person of that interest through the procedures used, and the probable value, if any, of additional or substitute procedural safeguards; and
- (3) the State's interest, including the function involved and fiscal and administrative burdens that the additional or substitute procedural requirements would entail.

The first factor favors the Department, as Buckner's interest is a financial one rather than a fundamental liberty interest. *See LK Operating, LLC v. Collection Group, LLC*, 181 Wn.2d 48, 70, 331 P.3d 1147 (2014) (explaining that when a party's interest is "purely financial" then "the level of due

process that is constitutionally required, though real, is on the low end of the spectrum.")

The second *Mathews* factor also favors the Department. It considers "the risk of erroneous deprivation of the interest at stake through the procedures used and the probable value, if any, of additional or substitute safeguards." City of Bellevue v. Lee, 166 Wn.2d 581, 586, 210 P.3d 1011 (2009) (quotations omitted) As Lee's discussion shows, the party challenging the sufficiency of the current procedures bears the burden of proving that they are unreliable. Lee, 166 Wn.2d at 587. Lee rejected the argument that the procedures used for the revocation of a driver's license were insufficient, noting that the challengers to the law had not shown that the alleged errors that could be caused by the current system were "widespread" or that the errors would be impossible to resolve, and the court noted that they had not cited "even one example" of such an error. *Id.* Buckner similarly complains that Accurint is not reliable but does not cite an example of Accurint leading the Department to mail a citation to the wrong address.

In any event, using public records to find the last known address is reasonable because these would be addresses that the contractor is known to have used to receive mail. And in cases like the current one, where the person performing contractor work without a license never registered with the Department, using a service like Accurint to discover the individual's mailing address is a reasonably reliable method that the Department has available to it. Nothing dictates any other method.³

The final *Mathews* factor also favors the Department. It is the government's interest "in the fiscal and administrative burden that additional or substitute procedural requirements would entail." *Lee*, 166 Wn.2d at 589. Just as the state has an "interest in the efficient and cost effective administration" of the licensing laws at issue in *Lee*, the state has an interest in the efficient and

³ Buckner complains that the Department should have verified the address with him as it did with another contractor, V & S Construction LLC. Pet. 8-11. The Department cited V & S for allowing Buckner to use its contractor's registration. CP 84. But nothing requires a Department inspector to call a violator about the violator's address.

cost-effective administration of the electrical laws. Buckner does not show otherwise.

In any event, the government's interest in protecting "life and property" (RCW 19.28.010) through its electrical laws is strong. Requiring the Department to obtain something more than the last known address from someone working illegally before it can issue citations to that person would impose an unreasonable administrative burden and frustrate enforcement of these laws.⁴

On balance, the *Mathews* factors weigh in favor of finding that Buckner received all the process that was due. Not only is Buckner's constitutional argument not significant, it lacks merit, and does not warrant review.

⁴ Buckner notes that WAC 296-46B-995 allows the Department to either mail a citation to a person's last known address or personally serve them, and claims that this shows the Department did not follow its own regulations when it mailed the citation to Buckner. Pet. 11. But this argument does not make sense given that the rule Buckner cites allows for the mailing of the citation. In any event Buckner shows no violation of due process.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the petition for review should be denied.

This document contains 3,491 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.